1958

## State of Utah v. Bailey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 30, 1957, Virginia Lee Bennett, Executive Secretary of the Children's Service Society of Utah, filed a petition (R. 10) in the Juvenile Court of the Second Juvenile District in and for Salt Lake County alleging Karl Bailey, the son of J. Gordon Bailey, Appellant herein and frequently referred to as Gordon, to be a neglected and dependent child within the purview of Utah law. The Children's Service Society of Utah will be referred to herein as the Society, and since the uncon-

tradicted evidence is that the child was named Karl Bennett Bailey, he will be referred to by that name, or simply as Karl. May 8, 1957, Gordon filed his cross petition (R. 11), and after a rather lengthy hearing in the matter the Court made findings of fact and conclusions of law (R. 22) and entered its Decree and Judgment (R. 25), adjudging Karl to be a neglected child within the purview of Utah law, depriving Gordon of all rights to the custody of his son and authorizing the Society to arrange for his adoption by unidentified foster parents in whose care he had been previously placed by the Society.

Gordon, presently employed as a caretaker at a duck club and an artist by profession, was reared and educated in Utah. After completing high school and prior to his induction into the United States Army Air Corps in June of 1943 (R. 214) he was employed in California (R. 212, 213). While serving as a member of the Air Corps he became very interested in the study of art (R. 214) and after his return to civilian life, in January, 1946, he undertook the study of art at various schools, utilizing his service-earned benefits under the G. I. Bill for this purpose (R. 215). He has sold paintings and has participated in numerous art exhibits throughout the country (R. 215, 216, Ex. 14).

On November 19, 1951, Gordon married one Martha Bander Singer in Mexico (R. 95), which marriage was dissolved by a decree of annulment April 5, 1952 (R. 96), although the Juvenile Court found such annulment to have been on September 24, 1953. This point will be covered in the argument following.

In the latter part of 1952, or the early part of 1953, Gordon met Margaret Susan Willis (now Mrs. Jesse Sharp and called both Margaret and Susan in the record, and referred to herein as Susan) at an art exhibit banquet (R. 276). Susan had been born in Canada and raised in England (R. 275). While in England Susan conceived an illegitimate child (R. 275) which was born after Susan and her family had migrated to the United States (R. 275), and was placed for adoption out of state (R. 275). Susan returned to Utah where she resided with her parents in Provo and later in Salt Lake City (R. 275, 276).

Shortly after she met Gordon, Susan asked him if she could go live with him at Logan, Utah, where he was attending college (R. 278). There is conflict in the evidence as to the nature of their relationship prior to this point. In any event Gordon and Susan lived together as man and wife, but without the benefit of a formal marriage, from this time in 1953 until the end of October, 1955 (R. 22, Finding No. 2). There is a substantial conflict in the evidence as to why they were not formally married, each contending that he desired so to do but that the other refused, insisting such a formality to be unnecessary.

During the first part of this time they traveled about the country, Gordon pursuing his study of art at various schools (R. 280-284). They held themselves out to others as being married (R. 89). Susan's family did not know that they were not married until after Susan left Gordon in October, 1955 (R. 40, 41, 176).



At one time Susan became pregnant, but this pregnancy was terminated by a miscarriage at Santa Rosa, California (R. 285).

In the spring of 1954 Susan became pregnant again. In the fall of 1954 Gordon and Susan obtained employment as caretakers at a duck club near Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 35, 292). On January 7, 1955, their child was born at the duck club (R. 220, 221, 222, Ex. 7). Gordon and Susan were alone and the child was delivered without the aid of a doctor and without serious complications though Susan testified that the child had some trouble, breathing as though it had a cold (R. 304, 305). Gordon prepared, signed and filed a birth certificate (Ex. 7) naming himself as the father and Susan as the mother.

As with many of the occurrences in this case, the reasons for the natural childbirth, who desired it, and similar matters are in conflict.

Gordon notified Susan's mother of the birth of her grandchild (R. 39). Susan's father named the child Karl Bennett Bailey (R. 174), Bennett being the middle name of a deceased brother of Gordon (R. 151).

Gordon, Susan and Karl lived at the club as a family unit from the birth of the child in January until the end of October of the same year, during which time Gordon held Karl out as his son, admitting publicly the paternity of the child — never denying it — and treating the child in all respects as his son (R. 44, 89, 108, 112, 113, 121, 122, 130, 133, 134, 137, 140, 164, 222). Friends, relatives and neighbors testified at the hearing that the child



appeared exceptionally healthy and that Gordon was very fond of it (R. 108, 112, 113, 114, 121, 122, 130, 134, 141, 142), although Susan and members of her family testified that the child suffered from colds, jaundice and diarrhea (R. 39, 46, 305).

Near the end of October, 1955, about ten months after Karl's birth, one Jesse Sharp, formerly a close friend of Gordon, and referred to herein as Sharp, visited for about three days at the club (R. 309). The day after he left Susan went into Salt Lake City where she met Sharp (R. 311). They returned to the club and informed Gordon that they desired to be together (R. 313). They packed some of Susan's things and, taking Karl with them, left the club (R. 313). Gordon drove them into Salt Lake City (R. 314). He testified that he did so, under strain, rather than risk trouble should their departure be delayed (R. 224). The following day Susan and Sharp left Utah for Sacramento, California, and were married in Reno, Nevada, enroute (R. 314).

Immediately after Susan, Sharp and Karl left the club, Gordon and Susan's parents attempted to find her, but their efforts were futile (R. 40, 145, 163, 174, 175, 181, 226, 227, 228, 229, 230, 231). By a letter dated November 10, 1955, and bearing only a general delivery, Sacramento, California, return address, Susan notified Gordon that she and Sharp were married (Ex. 8).

This marriage was not a happy one and in December of that same year, Susan returned with Karl to her parents' home in Salt Lake City. She testified that she

thought that if her parents would care for Karl for two or three weeks so that she and Sharp could spend a little time together their marriage might improve (R. 315, 318). Gordon saw Susan at this time, but the unplanned meeting was not a friendly one (R. 236, 316). Gordon's subsequent attempts to communicate with Susan were terminated by a letter from Sharp to Gordon, postmarked February 2, 1956, Salt Lake City, Utah, but without any further return address, addressed to Gordon, who at the time was working at Moab, Utah, curtly informing him that any further letters would be returned to him unopened (Ex. 11).

Unsuccessful in her attempt to get someone to care for Karl, and without contacting Gordon or any member of his family, Susan approached the Children's Service Society of Utah on February 7, 1956, to arrange for temporarily leaving Karl with the Society (R. 317). On behalf of the Society, evidence was offered that Susan told them that the father of the child was Joe Bailey to whom she was not married, and that the child was born in December, 1954 (R. 56, 70). Within a day or two Karl was left with the Society. Susan did not return for him and apparently her only contact with the Society between such time and November 21, 1956, consisted of two short phone calls (R. 58).

In the summer of 1956, Gordon met Lee Deffebach Hanson (also referred to in the record as Helen Hortense Lee Deffebach Hanson), known to her acquaintances as Lee and so referred to herein (R. 195).

Lee, a graduate from the University of Utah with a B.A. degree in Art (R. 187) had married one Mr. Hanson and shortly thereafter the two of them went to Europe. Lee had been awarded a Fullbright scholarship for the study of art in Europe. This marriage was not successful, terminating in Mr. Hanson's suing for divorce in June, 1956. Lee did not contest the action (R. 207). The decree became final December 12, 1956. Lee went to live with Gordon at the club about the end of August, and upon the expiration of the time for the prior decree to become final they were married. This was December 14, 1956 (R. 23, 196).

Gordon testified that from the December meeting with Susan to the commencement of this action he had no knowledge of the whereabouts of Susan or Karl.

On December 7, 1956, a petition was filed in the Juvenile Court in Salt Lake City alleging Karl to be a dependent and neglected child (R. 4). Gordon received no notice of this action and was not a party thereto (R. 30). On December 10, 1956, the petition filed three days earlier was modified to show the father's name to be J. Gordon Bailey and the date of birth to be January 7, 1955 (R. 4). At a hearing on December 12, 1956, Susan and a Mrs. Alice Olson of the Society were present (R. 1). Findings of fact, conclusions of law and an order of continuance were made (R. 7).

Without breaking the sequence of fact, it should be here noted that Lee Deffebach Bailey had been an acquaintance of Virginia Lee Bennett, petitioner in the instant case and Executive Secreary of the Children's Serv-

ice Society of Utah, since about 1948 (R. 79, 80, 84). Virginia Lee Bennett testified that she had contacted Lee during the summer of 1956, having been informed by Lee's parents that she could contact Lee by calling the phone number of the club, which she did (R. 80). She also testified that she had received in December, 1956, an announcement of Gordon's and Lee's marriage. Virginia Lee Bennett testified that it was not until the hearing on December 10, 1956 (R. 4) that the Society knew that J. Gordon Bailey was the father of Karl and his consent necessary for adoption (R. 87, 88, 89).

Virginia Lee Bennett testified that two or three days after Christmas in that same month she had a conversation with Lee and that Lee told her that she and Gordon were going to take a trip to California (R. 81). At no time did Virginia Lee Bennett inform Lee that the Society had custody of Gordon's child (R. 85). During the time that Gordon and Lee were out of the state, Susan appeared before the Juvenile Court and relinquished all of her rights to Karl (R. 8). The Court made its order placing Karl with the Society for placement for adoption (R. 9, 86). This was January 16, 1957 (R. 1, 8, 9). No effort was made by Virginia Lee Bennett, or the Society, to contact Gordon or to inform him in any manner that the Society had custody of his child until three months after Susan had relinquished her rights (R. 86). On April 19, 1957, Gordon was contacted by the Society. On April 22, he was asked to release Karl so that he could be placed for adoption (R. 59, 60, 86).

At no time since the Society first obtained custody of Karl has Gordon been allowed or requested to take care of his son (R. 70, 86).

According to Virginia Lee Bennett and to Mrs. Olson, Gordon said at the interview of April 22, 1956, that he would never consent to the adoption of his child, that he would not fight any proceedings, but that he hoped that the outcome of the interview would be the return of Karl to him (R. 62, 71, 81). At about this time Virginia Lee Bennett informed Gordon in response to his inquiry that Karl had not been placed for adoption as of that time (R. 346).

On April 30, 1957, the case at bar was initiated by a petition filed by Virginia Lee Bennett alleging Karl to be a neglected and dependent child on the following grounds: (1) that Gordon had abandoned the child, (2) that the child lacked proper parental care because of the faults and habits of Gordon, (3) that Gordon has refused and neglected to provide proper care and necessary subsistence, medical and other care, and (4) that the child was in a situation dangerous to its health and morals by reason of the foregoing and the irresponsible and immoral conduct of Gordon. The petition alleged that for the above reasons, Karl became a neglected and dependent child on the 30th day of April, 1957 (R. 10). The Society had had Karl in its custody from about February 9 of the previous year (R. 4).

By a cross petition filed May 8, 1957, Gordon denied the allegations of dependency and neglect and alleged,

inter alia, that the child was his legitimate son by virtue of compliance with the provisions of Utah Code Ann. 1953, 78-30-12; that because he did not know and had not been informed of the whereabouts of his son he had not been able to care for him; that he and his wife desired the return of the child; that they are competent and capable persons to have the custody and care of the child; that his wife desires to adopt the child as her own; and that the Society refused to return the child to him (R. 11-15).

In the course of the hearing that ensued, the petitioner introduced evidence concerning the events preceding the placing of the child with the Society and subsequent thereto, including testimony concerning medical treatment, religion, philosophy of life, alleged sexual deviations, unfitness of the home at the club and numerous diverse matters.

At the end of the petitioner's evidence in chief, a motion to dismiss the petition was denied (R. 107).

Gordon introduced testimony in his own behalf rebutting that of the petitioner, and showing his version of the matters raised by the petitioner.

The greatest part of the 321 pages of testimony are concerned with events prior to Gordon's marriage to Lee in December, 1956, and include the fullest scope of inquiry imaginable. To recite in detail this testimony would unduly lengthen this brief.

After the close of the evidence in chief for Gordon, the petitioner offered and the Court admitted, over objection, evidence to the effect that unidentified foster par-



## POINT II.

KARL BERNETT BAILEY IS NOT A NEGLECTED CHILD WITHIN THE PURVIEW OF THE LAW AND THEREFORE THE COURT WAS WITHOUT POWER TO DEPRIVE J. GORDON BAILEY OF THE CUSTODY OF HIS SON.

## POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AND IN CONSIDERING IN ITS DECISION EVIDENCE CONCERNING ALLEGED ADOPTIVE PARENTS.

## POINT IV.

THE ORDER PURPORTING TO DEPRIVE J. GORDON BAILEY PERMANENTLY OF ALL RIGHTS TO THE CUSTODY OF HIS SON AND TO AUTHORIZE HIS ADOPTION IS VOID BECAUSE IT IS UNSUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS AND IS CONTRARY TO LAW.

## POINT V.

EVEN ASSUMING THE JUVENILE COURT TO HAVE HAD THE POWER TO TEMPORARILY DEPRIVE J. GORDON BAILEY OF THE CUSTODY OF HIS SON, TO DO SO WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND CONTRARY TO LAW.

## POINT VI.

THE JUDGMENT MUST FAIL BECAUSE THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW DO NOT SUPPORT IT.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND KARL BERNETT BAILEY TO BE THE LE- GITIMATE SON OF J. GORDON BAILEY.

Although the court says in its conclusions of law (R. 24) that “the child may be considered a legitimate child because of the recognition of said child as his son by J. Gordon Bailey,” from the entire treatment of the case, from the pleadings before Gordon was made a party to the suit through to the summary order that because of Gordon’s faults and habits and manner of living Karl was to be permanently denied the privilege of knowing his father, it is apparent that the meaning of the clause above quoted is in effect a denial of a finding of legitimacy.

Susan has voluntarily left the picture. Half of Karl’s natural family has abandoned him. Only his father remains loyal to his child. The treatment accorded Gordon in this case and the principles applied to its determination are not consistent with the status of parent and legitimate child, but are consonant with the cruel legal principles reserved as a social punishment for those cases wherein a father of an illegitimate child attempts to obtain its custody from an adverse party having an equal or superior right.

By a long-standing provision in our law, borrowed from the California Civil Code, Utah Code Ann. 1953, 78-30-12, provides:

The father of an illegitimate child, by publicly acknowledging it as his own, receiving it as such with the consent of his wife, if he is married, into his family, and otherwise treating it as if it were a legitimate child, thereby adopts it as such, and such child is thereupon deemed for all purposes legitimate from the time of its birth.

The term “adoption” in this statute means and is used in the sense of “legitimation.”

*Blythe v. Ayres*, 96 Cal. 32, 31 P. 915; (1892);

*Re McNamara*, 181 Cal. 82, 183 P. 552, 19 L.R.A. 40 (1919);

*Re Navarro*, 77 Cal. App. 2d 500, 175 P. 2d 896 (1946).

The effect of such legitimation by acknowledgment, in the absence of any provision in the law to the contrary, is to confer upon the child and the parent the same rights and status as though the child had been born in lawful wedlock, according to each the reciprocal rights and duties of and the same as all legitimate children and their parents. The wording of the statute in this regard is quite clear: “and such child is thereupon deemed for all purposes legitimate from the time of its birth.”

*Pfeiffer v. Wright*, 41 F. 2d 464, 73 A.L.R. 932 (1930);

*Allison v. Bryan*, 21 Okla. 557, 97 P. 282, 18 L.R.A. (n. s.) 931 (1908).

By the expression, “publicly acknowledging it as his own,” is meant the disclosure of the fact of paternity, without concealment, to relatives, friends, acquaintances, and others.

*In re Skinner's Estate*, 65 Cal. App. 2d 528, 151 P. 2d 31 (1944);

*In re Gathings' Estate*, 199 Okla. 460, 187 P. 2d 981 (1947);

*In re Flood's Estate*, 217 Cal. 763, 21 P. 2d 579 (1933);

*In re Baird's Estate*, 173 Cal. 617, 160 P. 1078 (1916);

*In re Garr*, 31 Utah 57, 86 P. 757 (1906);

*In re Gird's Estate*, 157 Cal. 534, 108 P. 499 (1910).

Gordon publicly acknowledged that he was Karl's father by filling out and filing the certificate of birth describing himself as the father (Ex. 11). In *Estate of Mc-Namara* the court said that there could be no more public acknowledgment than the act of the father in signing the child's birth certificate describing himself as the father.

Immediately following Karl's birth, Gordon notified Susan's mother (R. 39). Susan's father named the child, giving it the middle name of Bernett which is the middle name of a brother of Gordon, now deceased (R. 174, 151). Gordon publicly acknowledged that Karl was his son to all with whom he came into contact (R. 44, 89, 108, 112, 113, 121, 122, 130, 133, 134, 137, 140, 164, 222). Witnesses for the petitioner are among this group. The record is abundantly filled with evidence to this effect; it is absolutely devoid of any denial of paternity or inference of any denial of paternity. Acknowledgment of paternity has been made to the petitioner (R. 91), in open court (R. 92), to friends (R. 155) and to acquaintances (R. 164, 273).

The household of a bachelor constitutes a “family” as also does the household of the father even though he may be living in an unlawful relationship with the child’s mother.

*In re Garr*, 31 Utah 57, 86 P. 757 (1906) ;

*In re Jones’ Estate*, 166 Cal. 108, 135 P. 288 (1913) ;

*In re Gathings’ Estate*, 199 Okla. 460, 187 P. 2d 981 (1947) ;

*Estate of McNamara*, 181 Cal. 82, 183 P. 552, 7 A.L.R. 131 (1919) ;

*In Re McGrew*, 183 Cal. 177, 190 P. 804 (1920).

The father was a bachelor in the *Garr* case. In the *McNamara* case the father lived with the child’s mother who was the lawful wife of another. In the *McGrew* case the parents lived without the benefit of the marriage ceremony as man and wife. To hold otherwise would defeat the obvious purpose and the plain meaning of the statute.

Gordon, Susan and Karl lived together as a family unit until Susan’s departure with Sharp (R. 44, 45, 89, 113, 121). Susan had so testified, according to the record, in the earlier proceedings (R. 6). The court specifically found that Gordon and Susan lived together as man and wife from February 21, 1953, to October 30, 1955 (R. 22, No. 2).

Gordon’s previous marriage cannot affect the application of the legitimation statute, for that marriage was

terminated prior to Karl's birth. The Court erred somewhat in its finding that Gordon was married to one Martha Dander Singer from June 22, 1952, to September 24, 1953. The translation of the document (R. 95) and the document itself (Ex. 1) show that Gordon was married to one Martha Bander Singer on November 19, 1951, and that the date of the annulment is April 5, 1952. A careful reading of either the translation or the original shows that September 24, 1953, is the date borne by the copy in evidence, which is a combination of the marriage and the annulment records. Error or not, Gordon was not married to another at the time he lived with Susan, and the evidence is clear that he had not been married to Singer for over two and one-half years prior to Karl's birth.

That Karl was "received" into Gordon's family cannot be seriously questioned. Receiving is accomplished by a physical acceptance or being of the child, even though for a short length of time in the household of the father. In this instance the time was not short, it was over nine months.

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