1958

State of Utah v. Bailey : Brief of Respondent Children's Service Society of Utah

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE AND ADMITTED FACTS CONCLUSIVELY SHOW THE CHILD TO BE A NEGLECTED CHILD AND APPELLANT TO BE AN UNFIT AND IMPROPER PERSON TO HAVE ITS CUSTODY WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTIONS 55-10-6 AND 55-10-32, U.C.A., 1953.

Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, defines the words "neglected child" to include the following:

"A child who is abandoned by his parent, * * * .

" A child who lacks proper parental care by reason of the fault or habits of the parent, * * * .

"A child whose parent * * * neglects or refuses to provide proper or necessary subsistence, education, medical or surgical care or other care necessary for his health, morals or well-being.

* * *

"A child * * * who associates with vagrant, vicious or immoral persons.

"A child who * * * is in a situation * * * injurious to the health or morals of himself or others."

Section 55-10-32, U.C.A., 1953, provides as follows:

"No child * * * shall be taken from the custody of its parents * * * unless the court shall find from the evidence introduced in the case that such parent * * * has knowing-

ly failed and neglected to provide for such child the proper maintenance, care, training and education contemplated and required by both law and morals * * * or unless the court shall find from all the circumstances in the case that * * * the welfare of a child requires that his custody be taken from its parents * * *.”

(1) The uncontroverted evidence shows the following. That Bailey persistently indulged in sodomous and homosexual relationships, is guilty of general sexual depravity and that this conduct was visited on three children, ages 12, 13 and 15 respectively, and on the child that is the subject of this proceeding during the period that it was living with Bailey. That Bailey lived openly in what, so far as he knew, was an adulterous and in an illicit relationship with Susan and as a result this child was born. That eight months after the relationship with Susan was terminated, Bailey openly entered into an adulterous and illegal relationship with Lee Defebach. Bailey did not deny the sodomous and homosexual relationships and the general sexual depravity and offered no evidence that his traits in these respects have changed. Bailey did not deny the illicit and adulterous relationships and offered as his only excuse that he did so, in the case of one woman, because of her insistence, and, in the case of the other, because he “considered it very important to her health” that he do so. Whether or not these women

consented to live with Bailey in these relationships is immaterial to the proceeding before this court, except to the extent that it shows Bailey's lack of character as a proper custodian for this child by virtue of his association with them. Susan's testimony that Bailey openly rejected marriage as an institution because he believed that people should be free to come and go promiscuously according to their desires and to the effect that he persistently refused to marry her, in spite of her pleadings for the legitimacy of the child, is corroborated by four witnesses (R. 75-76, 50, 180-183, 279-280). It is submitted that by virtue of the foregoing the child is a neglected child within the meaning of the second, third, fourth and fifth paragraphs above quoted from Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, in that (1) the child lacks proper parental care by reason of the fault and habits of J. Gordon Bailey, (2) J. Gordon Bailey has neglected and refused to provide the child with care necessary to the child's health, morals and well-being, (3) the child, to the extent that Bailey claims any interest in it as its natural father, is, within the literal wording of the statute, associated with a vagrant, vicious and immoral person and (4) is in a situation dangerous and injurious to the child's health and morals.

That evidence of illicit relationships and immoral habits and conduct, coupled with neglect and

failure to provide a child with proper subsistence, medical and other care for the child's health, morals and well-being, does support a finding that the child is a neglected child and that the parent is unfit to have its custody, within the meaning of Sections 55-10-6 and 55-10-32, U.C.A., 1953, see, *In re Bradley* (1946) 109 U. 538, 167 P.2d 978, and, *In re Olson* (1947) 111 U. 365, 180 P.2d. 210. That open profession of belief in illegal and adulterous relationships and exposure of a child to such relationships does constitute the child a neglected child and the parent unfit, see, *In re State in Interest of Black* (1955) 3 U.2d 315, 283 P.2d 887. That exposure of a child to brutal and sadistic treatment does constitute the child a neglected child and support a finding that the parent is unfit, see, *In re Miller* (1952) 40 Wash.2d 319, 242 P.2d 1016.

(2) The admitted facts show the following. That Bailey knowingly and intentionally neglected to provide the child with proper and necessary medical care during the period of conception, at birth and thereafter down to the date of the hearing in this matter. Bailey's only excuse was that he claimed that Susan consented to this course of conduct during the period that she lived with him. Susan's positive testimony to the effect that she requested necessary medical care during the period of conception and at birth and during the periods of prolonged

and serious illness of the child thereafter and as to Bailey's diabolical reasons for refusing such care is corroborated by the testimony of three witnesses (R. 38-40, 39-43, 72-75, 45-46, 49). Again, whether or not Susan consented to this course of conduct is not material to this proceeding except to the extent that it shows Bailey's lack of character as a fit custodian for this child by virtue of his association with her. Furthermore, Susan's testimony as to Bailey's personal conduct in wilfully exposing the child to dangers of disease, illness and death during the period of conception, at birth and thereafter, of itself, supports a finding that the child is a neglected child. Bailey's only excuse for failing to provide medical care for the child after his illicit relationship with Susan and the child was terminated and down to the date of the hearing in this matter was that he did not know the whereabouts of the child. The positive evidence shows that Bailey knew the whereabouts of the child during the first four months after Susan and the child left with his assistance and that, thereafter, Bailey did not inquire as to the child's whereabouts or welfare. It is submitted that the admitted facts as to failure to provide this child with proper and necessary medical care constitute the child a neglected child within the meaning of the third paragraph of Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, above set forth.

That failure to provide a child with proper and necessary medical care, coupled with other evidence of irresponsible conduct, does support a finding that the child is a neglected child within the meaning of Sections 55-10-6 and 55-10-32, U.C.A., 1953, see, *In re Bradley* (1946) 109 U. 538, 167 P.2d 978, in which the evidence of medical neglect did not approach the flagrance of that in the case before this court.

(3) The uncontroverted evidence and admitted facts show the following. Bailey actively assisted Susan and the child in terminating the illicit relationship with Bailey and leaving with Sharp. For a period of four months thereafter Bailey knew of the whereabouts of the child or of facts from which he could have ascertained its whereabouts. Bailey did not during the period contribute in any manner to the care and support of the child. At the expiration of this four month period Bailey wrote a letter to Susan in which he requested resumption of Bailey's and Susan's relationship, even though in the meantime Susan had married Sharp. Sharp in February of 1956 responded to the letter and told Bailey to quit bothering them. Thereafter Bailey made no inquiries concerning the child or its whereabouts and welfare and did not provide for its care and support down to the time of the hearing in this matter. Bailey told Mrs. Alice Olson, case worker for

the Children's Service Society of Utah, in a conversation three weeks prior to the date of hearing that he had not contributed to the support of the child since Susan and the child left with Sharp because he knew Sharp had \$800.00 at the time, was employed and was able to care for the child (R. 57-58). Bailey told Sharp's sister that he consented that Susan leave with Sharp because Sharp was in a better position to care for the child than Bailey (R. 168-169). It is submitted that the foregoing constitutes the child a neglected child within the meaning of the third paragraph of Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, above quoted to the effect that a neglected child includes, "A child whose parent * * * neglects or refuses to provide proper or necessary subsistence, education, medical or surgical care or other care necessary for his health, morals or well-being." See, *In re Bradley* (1946) 109 U. 538, 167 P.2d 978, and *In re Olson* (1947) 111 U. 365, 180 P. 2d 210, so holding. In the *Bradley* case the mother left the child with the mother's aunt for a period of four months without providing care and support or arranging for such care and support. In the *Olson* case the father permitted the child to remain with its maternal grandparents and aunt and did not provide care because he believed the grandparents were providing adequate care and did not provide financial support because the grandparents did not

request it. In both cases the court held the children involved to be neglected children within the meaning of Sections 55-10-6 and 55-10-32, U.C.A., 1953. It is no answer that Bailey left the child in the care of its mother, Susan. Bailey was his father. As such, to the extent that Bailey claims any interest in the child born of an illegitimate relationship, he had an independent duty to provide parental care and support. Instead he actively assisted Susan and the child in leaving with Sharp and thereafter knowingly and intentionally neglected to provide subsistence and care for the child.

(4) The evidence further shows the following. Both before and after birth of the child Susan pleaded with Bailey to marry her for the purpose of legitimating the child. Bailey persistently refused and openly rejected marriage as an institution because he believed that people should be free to live in promiscuity according to their desires and because "no child is illegitimate before God". Susan's positive testimony to this effect is corroborated by four witnesses (R. 40-41, 50, 75-76, 180-183, 337-338). Bailey affirmatively suggested that Susan leave him and go and live with Sharp. Bailey told Sharp that Bailey's principal objective was to dump Susan and the child because he did not want the responsibility. Bailey affirmatively suggested that Susan and Sharp take the child with them and actively as-

sisted them and the child in departing. For a period of four months thereafter Bailey knew the whereabouts of the child and did not contribute to its support. Thereafter Bailey did not inquire concerning the whereabouts of the child or its welfare and did not contribute to its support down to the time of the hearing. It is submitted that the foregoing evidence supports a finding that the child, born out of wedlock, was abandoned by its natural father within the meaning of the first paragraph of Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, which defines a neglected child to include, "A child who is abandoned by his parent * * *." Although the meaning of the word "abandoned" as used in Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953, has not been defined by this court, there is no question that under admitted facts of this case the child is a neglected child within the meaning of both Sections 55-10-6 and 55-10-32. See, *In re Bradley* (1946) 109 U. 538, 167 P.2d 978, at page 983.

(5) Appellant asserts that by reason of the fact that the evidence shows that the child was in the care of a third party, to-wit, the Children's Service Society of Utah from and after February 9, 1956, down to the date of the hearing in this matter and by reason of the fact that appellant did not know the actual physical location of the child during this period, the child could not have been a neglected child on the date of the hearing. (Appel-

lant's brief, pp. 7-9, 21-22, 31-32, 44-45.) The evidence conclusively shows the following. That appellant actively assisted Susan and the child in leaving with Sharp on October 30, 1955. That appellant did not thereafter support the child because appellant thought that Sharp was in a better position than appellant to do so. That appellant knew the whereabouts of the child or facts from which he could have ascertained its whereabouts for a period of four months after Susan and the child left with Sharp down to February of 1956 and that, upon receipt of a letter from Sharp in February of 1956 telling appellant to quit bothering Susan and Sharp, appellant did not thereafter inquire concerning the welfare and whereabouts of the child and did not contribute to its support. That such conduct does constitute present neglect of the child, see, *In re Bradley* (1946) 109 U. 538, 167 P.2d 978, and *In re Olson* (1947) 111 U. 365, 180 P.2d 210. In the *Olson* case the father claimed that because the child was receiving adequate care and support from its grandparents at the time of the hearing, the child was not then a neglected child. The court said at 180 P.2d pp. 213-214:

“The contention that the petition fails to state facts sufficient to show neglect on the part of appellant to support his minor child, assumes that there are allegations which negative parental neglect by showing

that the child has been and is now being well cared for by the grandfather and maternal aunt. The petition states that since 1938 appellant as father of Judith has failed to provide support or training for her, and that her grandparents have been caring for her. * * * An allegation that other relatives or friends provide care for a child neglected by a parent, does not negative the averment that a parent has neglected his parental responsibilities.

“By specifying that the words ‘neglected child’ include a child ‘whose parent, guardian or custodian neglects or refuses to provide proper or necessary subsistence, education, medical or surgical care or other care necessary for his health, morals or well-being’ *the statute seeks to reach the person who is primarily responsible for the care and support of the child.* The fact that some third person may be providing care for a child by reason of neglect of the parent to do so, does not deprive the juvenile court of jurisdiction to inquire into the welfare of such child and to fix responsibility and determine custody for the child within the scope of the statutory authority granted to the court.” (Emphasis added.)

Appellant asserts that evidence of appellant’s past immorality and misconduct during all periods that the child was with appellant and for prolonged periods thereafter does not constitute evidence that the child was a neglected child and appellant an unfit and improper person to have its custody at the

time of the hearing. (Appellant's brief, pp. 21-22, 31-32, 44-45.) The evidence as to appellant's immorality and misconduct showed that it persisted during all periods that the child was with appellant and for prolonged periods both before and after that time. It was positive, direct and uncontroverted. Appellant did not deny it and offered no evidence that his traits in this respect had changed at the time of trial.

Appellant cites *In re State in Interest of Johnson* (1946) 110 U. 500, 175 P.2d 486, and *In re Miller* (1952) 40 Wash.2d 319, 242 P.2d 1016, as authority for the proposition that evidence of prior immorality and misconduct on the part of a parent will not support a finding that the child is a presently neglected child and that the parent is an unfit and improper person to have the custody of the child at the time of the hearing. (Appellant's brief, pp. 20-22, 44-45.) In the *Johnson* case it was alleged in the petition that the parent, in the future, would be unable to provide support and care for the child. The supreme court held that an allegation that the mother in the future would be unable to support and care for the child did not constitute an allegation of the present status of the child as a dependent child within the meaning of Section 55-10-6, U.C.A., 1953. The court in so holding said that, if the petition had alleged that prior to the filing of the petition

the mother had not properly supported the child, the allegation would have been sufficient to confer jurisdiction on the juvenile court on ground of present dependency within the meaning of the statute. The court said at 175 P.2d p. 489:

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